OY 7 SID J. WHITE

JAN 6

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

Ohief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

complainant,

v.

ARTHUR B. STARK,

Respondent.

Case Nos. 76,406 and 76,819

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

JACQUELYN P. NEEDELMAN Bar Counsel Attorney No. 262846 The Florida Bar 444 Brickell Avenue Suite M-ZOO Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4445

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel Attorney No. 217395 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director Attorney No. 123390 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600

STATEMENT OF CASE

CASE NO. 76,406

The Florida Bar filed a three (3) count complaint and its Request for Admissions in this cause on July 31, 1990. On September 20, 1990, The Honorable William P. Dimitrouleas was appointed Referee. On September 13, 1990, Respondent answered The Florida Bar's Request for Admissions. On October 1, 1990, The Florida Bar mailed its Request for Production of Documents and its First Set of Interrogatories to Respondent. The Respondent filed objections to same and a hearing was held regarding said objections on November 14, 1991 and on the suggestion of recusal of the Referee. The cause was scheduled for final hearing on January 11, 1991 and was continued to February 22, 1991 at the Respondent's request.

At the Respondent's request, Judge Dimitrouleas signed an order on February 21, 1991 recusing himself as Referee. The Supreme Court then appointed the Honorable George A. Shahood as Referee.

CASE NO, 76,819

The Florida Bar filed its Rule to Show Cause on October 24, 1990. On November 15, 1990, this Court issued its Order to Show Cause. On December 4, 1990, Respondent filed his response to the Rule to Show Cause and on December 7, 1990, The Florida Bar filed its Reply to same.

The Honorable William F. Dimitrouleas was appointed Referee on January 10, 1991. On February 21, 1991 Judge Dimitrouleas was recused and The Honorable George A. Shahood was appointed Referee.

CASE NUMBERS 76.406 AND 76,819

The Final Hearing in these causes was held an April 22 and 23, 1991. On September 27, 1991, Judge Shahood submitted his Report of Referee recommending that the Respondent be found guilty of all charges in Case No. 76,400 and that the Respondent be found in contempt of this court's Order dated April 25, 1991 in Case No. 75,828. The parties appeared before the Referee on September 19, 1991 regarding the contents of the Referee Report. At the direction of the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar, a Petition for Review was filed by The Florida Bar on November 25, 1991. The Florida Bar filed a Request for an Extension of Time to file its Initial Brief and this court allowed The Florida Bar until January 6, 1992 to serve its brief.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Referee's findings of fact concerning Count I of Case No. 76,406 are as follows:

- 2. Bert Friedman, a court reporter, retained the Respondent to handle the collection of court reporting fees owed to him and his firm, Friedman, Lombardi, Gendron and Brumm.
- 3. Respondent represented Mr. Friedman in numerous collection matters from 1985 through approximately October 1988. The Respondent has known and represented Mr. Friedman for over thirty years.
- 4. The agreement between Mr. Friedman and the Respondent was that the Respondent would receive 1/3 of the collected funds as his fee and the remaining 2/3 of monies would be forwarded to Mr. Friedman.
- 5. In his representation of Mr. Friedman, the Respondent collected monies owed to Mr. Friedman and failed to remit \$8,466.29 of said funds to Mr. Friedman. This \$8,466.29 constituted the 2/3 of monies collected that was owed to Mr. Friedman.
- 6. Respondent used Mr. Friedman's funds far his own purposes.
- 7. In October, 1988 and subsequent thereto, Mr. Friedman and his new counsel demanded receipt from the Respondent of the monies owed to Mr. Friedman and the Respondent failed to remit said funds.
- 8. Mr. Friedman received \$8,466.29 from the Clients Security Fund of The Florida Bar (See Report of Referee, Pages 1-3).

The Referee found the Respondent guilty of Count I of Case Number 76,406 and specifically that he be found guilty of the following violations:

Florida Bar Integration Rule, article XI, Rules 11.02(3)(a) (commission of any act contrary to honesty, justice or good morals): 11.02(3)(b) (commission of a crime); 11.02(4) (using funds entrusted for a specific purpose or for a purpose other than that far which it was entrusted) and Rules 3-4.3 and 3-4.4 (commission of act unlawful or contrary to honesty and justice and commission of a crime) of the Rules of Discipline, and Rule 4-8.4(b) (commission of a criminal act reflecting on lawyer's honesty, trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer) of the Rules of Professional Conduct, and Rule 5-1.1 (money entrusted for a specific purpose must be used only for that purpose) of the Rules Regulating Trust Accounts.

The Referee's findings of fact as to Count II of Case No. 76,406 are as follows:

- **9.** An audit was conducted by The Florida Bar of the Respondent's trust accounts by Carlos J. Ruga, Branch Staff Auditor, for The Florida Bar.
- 10. During the period of May 13, 1985 to June 30, 1989, Respondent maintained a trust account at Florida National Bank, Miami, Florida, account #0003150218 (hereinafter referred to as "F.N.B. trust account").
- 11. During the period of May 5, 1989 to on or about February 28, 1990, Respondent maintained a trust account at United National Bank, Miami, Florida, Account #3-112831-7 (hereinafter referred to as "U.N.B. trust account").

- 12. Mr. Ruga's audit of Respondent's U.N.B. trust account covered the period of May 5, 1989 to February 28, 1990.
- 13. Respondent knowingly used clients' funds for purposes other than those for which the funds were entrusted.
- 14. Respondent knowingly used clients monies for his own use and to satisfy unrelated liabilities.
- 15. Respondent's trust account liabilities exceeded the funds available.
- 16. During January 1990, Respondent had checks dishonored on his trust account due to insufficient funds.
- 17. As of November 14, 1989, Respandent had a shortage in his trust account of at least \$17,066.29.
- 18. During the period of May 5, 1989 to February 28, 1990, Respondent incurred sixteen (16) overdrafts in his trust account at United National Bank. The Respondent testified that he had an arrangement with United National Bank to cover said overdrafts which the bank apparently did until January 1990. In January 1990, four (4) checks were dishonored and not covered by the bank.
- 19. On October 2, 1989, Thomas Smith and his wife, buyers, gave a check in trust to the Respondent, attorney for the seller, in the amount of \$7000.00 as a deposit to purchase real property.

 As of October 14, 1989, the Smiths' funds were used by the Respondent. Subsequently, at the time of the closing Respondent used funds from other sources to complete the closing.
- 20. Respondent used the funds of Mr. and Mrs. Smith without the knowledge or authorization of Mr. and Mrs. Smith. (See Report of Referee, Pages 2-3).

The Referee found the Respondent guilty of Count II of case Number 76,406 and specifically that he be found guilty of the following violations:

Rules 3-4.3 and 3-4.4 (commission of any act unlawful or contrary to honesty and justice and commission of a crime) of the Rules of Discipline and Rule 4-8.4(b) (commission of a criminal act reflecting on lawyer's honesty, trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer) of the Rules of Professional Conduct, and Rule 5-1.1 (money entrusted for a specific purpose must be used only for that purpose) of the Rules Regulating Trust Accounts.

The Referee's findings of fact as to Count III are as f01lows:

- 21. The audit of Respondent's trust accounts evidenced that Respondent failed to maintain the minimum required trust accounting records.
- 22. Respondent failed to maintain original or duplicate deposit slips and, in the case of currency or coin, an additional cash receipts book, clearly identifying the date and name of all trust funds received and the client or matter for which the funds were received.
- 23. Respondent failed to maintain documentary support for all disbursements and transfers from the trust account.
- 24. Respondent failed to maintain a separate cash rece pts and disbursements journal, including columns for receipts, disbursements, transfers and the account balance and containing at least: the identification of the client or matter for which the funds were received, disbursed or transferred; the date on which all trust funds were received, disbursed or transferred;

the check number for all disbursements; and the reason for which all trust funds were received, disbursed or transferred.

25. Respondent failed to maintain a separate file or ledger with an individual card or page for each client or matter showing all individual receipts, disbursements or transfers and any unexpended balance, and containing the identification of the client or matter for which trust funds were received, disbursed or transferred; the date on which all trust funds were received, disbursed or transferred; the check number for all disbursements; and the reason for which all trust funds were received, disbursed or transferred. (See Report of Referee, Pages 4-5).

The Referee found the Respondent guilty of Count III of Case Number 76,406 and specifically that he be found guilty of the following violations: Rules 5-1.1(c) trust accounts as official records) and 5-1.2 (trust accounting records and procedures) of the Rules Regulating Trust Accounts.

The Referee's findings of fact as to The Florida Bar's Rule to Show Cause in Case Number 76,819 are as follows:

- 26. On April 25, 1990, in case number 75,828, Respondent was temporarily suspended from the practice of law in the State of Florida, effective May 25, 1990.
- 27. From May 25, 1990 to date, Respondent remains suspended pursuant to the April 25, 1990 Order in case number 75,828.
- 28. Subsequent to the effective date of his suspension in case number 75,828, Respondent continued to have office signs stating Law Offices of Arthur B. Stark and continued to be listed in the building directory as an attorney.

- 29. Subsequent to the effective date of his suspension in case number 75,828, Respondent continued to have his attorney business cards displayed on his desk and allowed a Florida Bar investigator to take one such card without advising him that the Respondent was suspended from the practice of law.
- 30. Subsequent to the effective date of his suspension, the Respondent continued to practice law by appearing in court and arguing on behalf of a client on two occasions and by filing pleadings and motions in the cause styled Metropolitan Dade Countv. a political subdivision of the State of Florida, Plaintiff/Counter-Defendantvs. Bertram Craven Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff, in the Circuit Court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, In and For Dade County, Florida, Case Number 85-49205 CA 02.
- 31. Regarding the <u>Craven</u> matter, Respondent did not advise the Court he appeared before that he was suspended.
- 32. Respondent has advised that he did not receive funds from his client Bertram Craven during the time he was suspended and that he was assisting the client as the client could not afford other counsel.
- 33. This Referee finds that it was improper and a violation of the Supreme Court's Order dated April 25, 1990 for Respondent to continue representing a client while suspended from the practice of law.
- 34. This Referee finds that it was improper and a violation of the Supreme Court Order dated April 25, 1990 for the Respondent to continue to display attorney business cards and to have office signs stating "Attorney at Law" and to be listed as an attorney in the building directory.

- 35. This Referee finds that the Respondent further violated the Supreme Court's April 25, 1991 Order by failing to timely notify his clients in writing of his suspension and failed to provide The Florida Bar with an affidavit listing all clients informed of the suspension order and that Respondent failed to do so until after The Florida Bar had failed its Rule to Show Cause in this matter.
- 36. This Referee finds that the Respondent failed to timely notify all banks in which he maintains accounts of the provisions of his suspension, failed to provide the banks with a copy of the Supreme Court's Order and failed to timely provide The Florida Bar with a copy of the notice Respondent was required to send to each bank.
- 37. This Referee finds that the Respondent failed to timely provide The Florida Bar with an affidavit stating the names, addresses, amounts and location of all funds or property belonging to clients which were being held in trust.
- 38. Respondent's actions listed above in paragraph twentysix (26) through thirty-seven (37) constitute contempt of the
 Sup: sme Court's April 25, 1990 Order in Case Number 75,828.

 (See Report of Referee, Pages 5-8).

The Referee recommended that the Respondent be found in contempt of the Supreme Court of Florida's Order dated April 25, 1991 in Case Number **75,828**.

Bert Friedman testified regarding the allegations in Count I of Case Number 76,406 regarding misappropriation of the funds of Mr. Friedman's Court reporting firm. (T. 14-29)

A. J. Barranco, Esq. testified regarding the fact that he represented Ms. Friedman in his efforts to obtain the monies taken by the Respondent. In said representation, the Respondent admitted that he took the monies (T. 29-42).

Mr. Thomas Smith was called by The Florida Bar and he testified regarding funds he entrusted to the Respondent. (T. 42-52).

Carlos Ruga, Staff Auditor for The Florida Bar, testified regarding his audit of Respondent's trust accounts. (T. 55-83).

Bertram Craven testified regarding the Respondent's representation of him. (T. 133-144).

James B. Crowley, Staff Investigator for The Florida Bar, testified regarding his visits to Respondent's office and the pictures he took evidencing law office signs subsequent to the effective date of Respondent's Temporary Suspension (T. 144-153).

Joni Armstrong Coffey, Esq. testified regarding Respondent's practice of law subsequent to the effective date of his temporary suspension (T. 120-132).

Respondentiestified that he used Mr. Friedman's firm's funds and that he did not file any pleadings objecting to The Florida Bar's subpoena prior to the due date of the subpoena (T. 88-91, 93-97). Respondent admitted representing Mr. Craven in court proceedings while he was temporarily suspended (T. 99-102). The Respondent claimed that he continued representing Mr. Craven to assist him (T. 99).

Respondent testified that he had an arrangement with his bank that they would honor all checks on his trust account and that they would cover overdrafts (T. 114-115).

Respondent called twenty-two character witnesses to testify on his behalf.

The Referee's disciplinary recommendation was as follows:

That the Respondent make restitution to the Clients Security Fund of The Florida Bar in the amount of \$8,466.29 within a period of ninety (90) days. If that condition is met, I then recommend that the Respondent be suspended for a period of two (2) years nunc pro tune to May 25, 1990, the effective date of his temporary suspension in case number 75,828. Thereafter, Respondent would be subject to readmission upon approval of rehabilitation and appropriate supervision as deemed appropriate by the Florida Bar.

The Referee found the following mitigating and aggravating factors to be present pursuant to sections 9.2 and 9.3 of Florida's Standards for Imposing Lawver Sanctions.

Mitigating Factors:

- (a) Absence of prior disciplinary record and Respondent has practiced law in the State of Florida since June 1951.
- (b). Personal or emotional problems as Respondent was caring for his mother.
 - (c). Attempt to rectify consequences of misconduct.
- (d). Full and free disclosure to the disciplinary board and cooperative attitude toward proceedings. I reject The Florida Bar's argument that Respondent failed to cooperate with The Florida Bar because he failed to comply with a subpoena duces tecum issued by the Grievance Committee until he was suspended by the Supreme Court of Florida for said failure. I find that the Respondent has the constitutional

right to question a subpoena. I find that the Respondent cooperated after he was compelled by the Supreme Court of Florida to turn over his trust account records.

(e). Character or Reputation.

Eleven attorneys, six Circuit Court Judges, two Judges of the Third District Court of Florida, one Federal Judge, one retired County Court Judge and one General Master testified as character witnesses far the Respondent.

(f). Remorse.

Aggravating Factors:

- (a). Dishonest or selfish motive.
- (b). Substantial experience in the practice of law.
- (c). Lack of good faith effort to make restitution and failure to make restitution.

(See Report af Referee, Pages 9-11). The Report of Referee is attached hereto as Appendix I.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. THE DISCIPLINE TO BE IMPOSED IN THIS CAUSE SHOULD BE DISBARMENT

Disbarment is warranted in this cause based upon the serious and cumulative misconduct. Respondent has engaged in misappropriation of funds and practicing law subsequent to the effective date of his temporary suspension. Further, the Referee found as aggravating factors, dishonesty or selfish motive, substantial experience in the practice of law, and lack of good faith effort to make restitution and failure to make restitution.

The Referee found that the Respondent used Mr. Friedman's firm's money for his own purposes and knowingly used client monies for his own use and to satisfy unrelated liabilities, that trust account liabilities exceeded the funds available, that checks were dishonored on Respondent's trust account due to insufficient funds, and as of November 14, 1989, Respondent had a shortage in his trust account of at least \$17,066.29, as well as sixteen (16) overdrafts in a nine month period (Report of Referee, Pages 3-4).

Respondent used the funds of Mr. and Mrs. Thomas Smith without their knowledge or authorization. Said funds were entrusted regarding a real estate closing. (Report of Referee, Page 4).

Disbarment has been imposed for misappropriation of funds notwithstanding restitution being made, financial difficulties or suffering from alcoholism. The Florida Bar V. Tunsil, 503 \$0.2d 123 (Fla. 1986), The Florida Bar v. Golub, 550 So.2d 455 (Fla. 1989), The Florida Bar v. Davis, 474 So2d 1165 (Fla. 1985), The

Florida Bar v. Shanzer, 572 So.2d 1382 (Fla. 1991), The Florida
Bar v. McClure, 575 So.2d 176 (Fla. 1991).

The referee found that the Respondent knowingly misused funds in this cause (Report of Referee, Pages 3-4). Standard 4.11 of the Florida Standards for Imposina Lawver Sanctions provides for disbarment when a lawyer intentionally or knowingly converts client property regardless of injury or potential injury.

Attorneys have further **been** disbarred for the unauthorized practice of law while suspended. <u>e Florida Bar v. Bauman</u>, 558 So.2d **994** (Fla. 1990) and <u>The Florida Bar v. Jones</u>, 571 So.2d **426** (Fla. **1990**).

The mitigating factors found by the Referee are not sufficient to prevent disbarment in this cause wherein the Respondent engaged in misappropriation of funds, practicing law while suspended and violating a Court Order. Further, Judge Shahood, Referee, conditioned his recommendation of a two year suspension on the condition that restitution of \$8,466.29 be paid within ninety days. Said condition has not been complied with (See Appendix 11).

II. THE REFEREE ERRED IN FINDING AS A MITIGATING FACTOR THAT THE RESPONDENT GAVE FULL AND FREE DISCLOSURE TO THE DISCIPLINARY BOARD AND HAD A COOPERATIVE ATTITUDE TOWARD THE PROCEEDINGS.

Respondent failed to comply with the subpoena duces tecum issued by a Grievance Committee until he was suspended by this Court for said failure to comply. Respondent failed to file for a protective order and did not otherwise challenge The Florida Bar's subpoena until he was ordered to file an answer to The Florida Bar's Rule to Show Cause. (See Appendix III-V).

Respondent only fully complied with the subpoena after being suspended by this Court.

Accordingly, The Florida Bar believes the Referee erred in finding as a mitigating factor that the Respondent gave full and free disclosure and had a cooperative attitude toward the proceedings when he refused to comply with the Grievance Committee's subpoena duces tecum until he was suspended by this Court for his failure to comply. (T. 96-97)

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISCIPLINE TO BE IMPOSED IN THIS CAUSE SHOULD BE DISBARMENT

The Referee's recommended discipline of atwo year suspension if restitution was made within ninety days is an insufficient level of discipline given the serious nature of Respondent's misconduct. The Referee's findings of fact are presumed correct unless they are clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support. The Florida Bar v. Seldin, 526 So. 2d 41, 43 (Fla. 1988). The Referee found that The Florida Bar established every allegation contained in its Complaint and Rule to Show Cause by clear and convincing evidence.

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