047

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPPLIME COURT

Oher Deputy Cherk

Case Nos. 76,406 and 76,8197

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

vs _)

ARTHUR B. STARK,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

PAUL A LOUIS, ESQ. EVAN J. LANGBEIN, ESQ.

and

SINCLAIR, LOUIS, HEATH, NUSSBAUM & ZAVERTNIK, P.A. 1125 Alfred I. duPont Building 169 E. Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 374-0544

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

As far as in terms of Mr. Stark, I have tremendous respect for Mr. Stark, as

far as his ability and his integrity. I shall always have that respect for him.

I think that unlike many people that come before the Court, whether it be a situation such as this, to recommend a sanction in a criminal form or in a disciplinary form; oftentimes the Court, in effect, takes **a** promissory note from a person in terms of giving a sentence of less than what the Court ordinarily might or a sentence of probation.

The promissory note is that, "Although I have dona poorly or make a mistake or committed a crime, I agree to be indebted, to have the rest of my life to make payment and to discharge this obligation."

In this instance, I think if anyone in this world has prepaid, whose life in helping young lawyers, as he often helped me when 1 started practicing, and helping many, many people -- I have known literally tons of people who Arthur has represented for nothing.

I think he has brought tremendous credit an the Bar. I think he is one of the most respected lawyers, and I mean lawyers who have practiced here for quite a time.

If all of that counts for nothing in a proceeding such as this, I think it would be a shame. I think it would set a very poor precedent.

If a man's whole lifetime professionally, having **the** highest reputation, and deservedly so, counts for nothing in determining the sanction to be applied, why have a good reputation and why live a good life? (T 206-208)

10. JUDGE GERALD WETHERINGTON.

Chief Judge of the Circuit Court of Dade County since December 1974 (T209). Admitted to the Bar in 1963 and testified that he has known Arthur Stark since the late '60's. (T209-210).

I always felt that Mr. Stark was a very competent trial lawyer both civil and criminal.

I have never known of anyone to question his integrity. He has a good reputation for integrity (T 210).

* * *

Speaking of Mr. Stark specifically, he is a lawyer who has practiced for many, many years in Dade County, to my knowledge in a very honorable way and a very competent way.

He represented a lot of poor people as an Assistant Public Defender at a very low rate of pay, which is what they were paying in those years. So he has helped a lot of people over the years, a lot of poor people as a member of the Bar, and I think that is very important.

1 don't know the circumstances that led to the violations in question. But if I was looking at this case, and it is not a criminal case and I am not suggesting it is. But if I was analyzing a sentencing issue, I always take into consideration in sentencing the total circumstances, including past conduct and contributions of an individual, as well as the severity and whether or not there are other offenses.

If there are no other offenses and we are looking at a first offender situation, that is an extremely favorable factor.

If somebody came before the Court and let's say they were being charged with robbery — a first offender status is a very favorable factor on the issue of what an appropriate sentence would be.

It would seem to me, and I can't comment on the circumstances of the of-fense, your Honor, because I just don't know -- but this is, to my knowledge, a very decent man and a very honorable lawyer.

If he did something that was violative of the rules, it would be out of character. Knowing him, there must have been extenuating circumstances in his life. We are seeing these kinds of things happen with lawyers because we are all operating under pressure. That doesn't excuse anything.

But at this point in his career, with all of the good that he has done, if I was making the decision, I certainly would not disbar him. (T 213-15)

1 <u>MITCHELL M. GOLDMAN</u>.

General Master in the Circuit Court of Dade County. Admitted to the Bar in 1951 (T 216). He has known Arthur Stark since they attended law school tagether (T 217). Mr. Goldman testified Respondent "is quite a competent attorney and I don't know of any problems he has ever had other than these." (T 219).

Mr. Goldman testified he would believe Mr. Stark under oath, and that he would permit him to practice law in his court (T 221).

12. JUDGE HERBERT KLEIN.

Circuit Judge of the Circuit Court of Dade County. Admitted to the Bar on April 23, 1954 (T 222). Presently associate chief judge of the Circuit Court and administrative judge of the General Jurisdiction Division (T 224).

Judge Klein testified that he has known Arthur Stark since 1956 - and for a short period of time served together in the Dade County Public Defender's office (T 223). Judge Klein further testified (T 225-26):

My opinion is that he should absolutely not be disbarred. Arthur is a man of some 40 years experience as a lawyer. He has conducted himself in an exemplary fashion, so far as I know, for 40 years.

I knew Arthur, both personally and on a professional level, very well. He has appeared before me while I have been a judge. I have appointed him in some complex litigation to represent people who had to be represented.

He has conducted himself in a highly professional and highly dignified manner. I believe he is an honorable man.

I think he made a terrible mistake and he has been paying for that mistake.

would I be of the opinion that he should be disbarred? Absolutely not. I believe Arthur is rehabilitatable. I think Arthur should be punished, obviously, but he should be admitted back into the practice of law.

I think that he has shown a tendency not to be as careful as he should be or he exercised bad judgment in these two or three instances over **a 40** year period, that he probably should have some supervision during the period of time that he is coming back into the Bar and rehabilitating himself.

13. JOSEPH A. GASSEN, ESQ.

Admitted to The Florida Bar in 1949, former President of the Dade County Bar Association, and a former United States Bankruptcy Judge for approximately 4 1/2 years, now a partner in Mershon & Sawyer law firm in Miami, Florida (T 227).

Mr. Gassen testified that he has known Arthur Stark over 40 years and Mr. Stark enjoys a good reputation as a practicing lawyer (T 227-28). In the past when Mr. Gassen was away Mr. Stark handled several files for him, and has referred other matters to him from time to time (T 228).

14. JUDGE EDWARD B. DAVIS

United States District Judge of the Southern District of Florida for approximately 12 years, admitted to Florida Bar in 1960 (T 235).

He has known Arthur Stark since 1961 and they had offices next to each other in the Dupont Bldg (T 236). Judge Davis further testified:

Yes, in the years that I have known Arthur, I have never heard a complaint

about him until this recent matter that was brought to my attention sometime in the past.

I have never heard any complaint about Mr. Stark and I am familiar years back about some of the work that he had done.

His skills are good and his reputation is excellent." (T 237)

15. JUDGE MOIE J.L. TENDRICH

Circuit Judge of the Circuit Court of Dade County for 15 years. Admitted to The Florida Bar in February 1949 (T 240).

Judge Tendrich testified that he knew Respondent:

I think from the time I started practicing. I don't know if he graduated before me, after me or about the same time. But it seems like I have always known Arthur.

Judge Tendrich testified Mr. Stark's reputation for truth and veracity was "good" (T 241):

* *

When I read in the Bar Journal that he had been suspended, my first reaction was to get a hold of Judge Herb Klein, who I know is friends with Bob Koeppel, you know we all travel the same way.

We didn't know what it was about, Judge Klein said in effect, if it had been a question of money, why didn't he come to me.

That was my reaction. I think Arthur is well loved. If he committed wrong, I would hope that he would be given a chance to continue to practice, I think to lose him as a member of the profession would be a terrible thing (T 242-43).

16. JUDGE ALPHONSO SEPE

Judge of the Circuit Court of Dade County. Admitted to the Bar in 1954 (T244).

Judge Sepe testified he has known Arthur Stark since 1957 when Mr. Stark was an assistant public defender and Judge Sepe was a young prosecutor in the State Attorney's Office (T 244). Judge Sepe described how Mr. Stark practiced law:

Vigorously. He was a very tough advocate, but very honest. I was with him in front of many judges. Never once was there ever a suggestion, either in the mind of the prosecutor like myself or in the Judge's mind that there was any -- there was never a suggestion of impropriety or deception or anything other than being vigorous and forthright (T245-46).

17. JUDGE PHILIP HUBBART.

Judge of the Third District Court of Appeal of Florida since 1977. Admitted to The Florida Bar in 1963 (T 247).

He first met Arthur Stark in 1965 when the Judge worked in the Dade County Public Defender's office and Mr. Stark was the Chief Assistant Public Defender (T 248).

Judge Hubbart testified:

I always considered Arthur to be a fine lawyer, an excellent lawyer. He was a person of the highest integrity. I always thought very highly of Arthur. He was the chief assistant at the time and had been around for a number of years. Occasionally, I would consult him about cases.

Basically I knew him in a professional capacity, and I liked him very much. He was a very personable person (T 249).

18. JUDGE THOMAS H. BARKDULL, JR.

Judge of the Third District Court of Appeal of Florida since 1961. Admitted to Florida Bar in 1949 (T 256).

Judge Barkdull is the Senior Appellate Judge and only second in tenure to one judge in the state (T 258). He

is presently serving on the Judicial Qualifications Commission, and has served in that capacity since said commission was formed (T 258).

Judge Barkdull testified that he has **known** Arthur Stark since the early '50's, and his opinion of his professional capacity (T 259) was:

A. I thought he was a very competent lawyer and I thought that indigent defendants were very fortunate to have him.

Judge Barkdull testified after he was further advised of the nature of the pending charges filed by The Florida Bar against Mr. Stark (T 261-62):

A. Then I do not think that disbarment would be appropriate.

* *

I don't know how it is for young people joining the profession today, but I know at the **time** Arthur and I came along, if you were to tell us that we couldn't be a lawyer anymore, it would be like cutting your leg off.

I have a feeling that thia is supposed to be a forgiving society. We all make mistakes. If the people that were injured because of the mistakes have been made whole, I think people should be given a second chance.

On cross-examination Judge Barkdull testified (T 263):

- Q. Do you agree that misappropriation of funds is a serious act?
- A. Yes ma'am, and I know a number of good lawyers that had that problem and continued to practice after being disciplined, and served this community very well, including my former law partner.³

³The partner to whom the judge referred was the late Marion E. Sibley, one of Florida's most esteemed attorneys. See In re Sibley, 151 Fla. 225, 9 So.2d 366 (1942) (T 256-57). The Referee found Judge Barkdull's testimony "very persuasive" (T 342)

19. WILLIAM COLSON. ESQ.

Admitted to practice in 1948 (T 263). Former President of the Association af Trial Lawyers of America. Former member of Board of Governors of Florida Bar (T 264).

Mr. Colson testified that he has known Arthur Stark close to 44 years and is familiar with his reputation as a lawyer, "which is excellent" (T 265).

20. ROBERT ACHOR, ESQ.

Practicing lawyer in Florida since 1947 and former associate professor at the University of Miami Law School (T 268). Testified that he has known Mr. Stark since he was a student at the University of Miami Law School in 1949 (T 270). Mr. Achor observed Mr. Stark in the practice of law for many years and referred him cases and clients (T 270). Respondent was one of his "renowned students". (T 269)

21. IRWIN J. BLOCK, ESQ.

Practicing lawyer, admitted to practice in Florida in June of 1950. Former president of the Dade County Bar Association, former member of the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar, who just received the Learned Hand award and the Dade County Bar Association Justice Award (T 274).

Mr. Block testified that he has known Mr. Stark for about 40 years and his opinion of Mr. Stark both professionally and personally (T 275-76) is:

A. I think that the quality of legal services rendered by Arthur is excellent. I have never known him to have any personal problems...

22. AARON PODHURST, ESQ.

Practicing lawyer admitted to Florida Bar in 1961 (T 277). Past President of the International Academy of Trial Lawyers and a former member of a grievance committee of The Florida Bar (T 278).

Mr. Podhurst testified that he has known Mr. Stark for approximately 25 years and is familiar with Mr. Stark's reputation as a lawyer (T 279):

A. It was always excellent. He was one of the contemporaries of mine in the Bar who you could always trust. He is a nice fellow besides being a competent lawyer, a **good** trial lawyer.

* * *

I probably shouldn't get involved in that area, **because** I know so little about how Arthur got into the difficulty he **got** into.

Bert Friedman is also a close friend of mine. I know that Arthur and Bert had a very close relationship. Perhaps because of that relationship, Arthur misunderstood. That might be a mitigating factor.

•••I don't in any way condone what occurred, because what occurred occurred and it's very serious. But I know the relationship between them. That's the only thing I could say.

The only thing I can say is that whatever Arthur did, for twenty five years previous to that, he was an exemplary member of the Bar and a person that you could be proud of as a member of the Bar. That's all I can say (T 280-81).

The Referee found as additional mitigating factors:

- A. Absence of prior disciplinary record for almost 40 years;
- **B.** Personal or emotional problems **Mr**: Starkexperienced due to caring for his elderly mother;
- C. Mr. Stark's attempts at rectifying the consequences of his misconduct; and
- D. Full disclosure to the Florida Bar and a cooperative attitude by Mr. Stark towards these proceedings (APP 1, pg. 11).

E. Remorse.

The Referee found Mr. Stark had not been uncooperative for questioning the breadth of the Bar's Subpoena Duces Tecum. He found Respondent had the right to do so (APP 1, pg. 11-12).

The Referee further found that Mr. Stark's continuing representation of a client after the order of April 25 1990 was to assist a client at a summary judgment hearing (T120-23). Respondent had been handling the case since 1982 (T99-102; 140; APP 1, pg. 10).

The client, Burt Craven, had a long-time attorney-client relationship with Mr. Stark (<u>Ibid</u>). Mr. Craven was charged no fee, and found Mr. Stark's assistance "outstanding." (T138-40). Respondent's assistance was an "act of mercy" for a long-time client (T331).

Respondent had known Mr. Craven for 30 years (T 138). Mr. Carven was 65 years old, and retired (T 137). He was sick and under heavy medication (T 137). No other lawyer was familiar with his case, nor could he afford another lawyer (T 141).

Mr. Craven sought back wages from a long-standing employment dispute with Dade County (T 131). The assistant county attorney handling the <u>Craven</u> case, Joni Armstrong Coffey, acknowledged it involved several appeals and "many, many hours" of prior legal effort (T 126, 130). Mr. Craven remembered that Respondent advised him of problems with the

Bar prior to December 17, 1990, "but it went over my head." (T 141).

Mrs. Coffsy testified Mr. Stark was "consistently courteous," his legal work was adequate and he handled the matter with the fervor one wauld expect of an attorney representing a client (T 126).

The only "advice" Respondent gave to a Bar investigator after the May 25, 1990 suspension was to get another lawyer in Chicago (T 151). He never told the investigator that he was a practicing lawyer (T 151). Mr. Stark's former business office was locked and the lights were off (T 149).

He had moved into another lawyer's office on the same floor (T105-106; 145). The investigator took a business card as he left (T104-105). Mr. Stark sought no fee (T151).

Respondent notified clients of his suspension, received a letter from the Bar indicating compliance with the temporary suspension order (although claiming it was untimely) and the legal community was notified of Mr. Stark's suspension (T98-100).

The Referee recommended that Mr. Stark should be suspended far a period of two years, <u>nunc pro tunc</u>, to May 25, 1990 and pay reasonable costs associated with this proceeding (APP 1, pg. 9-12). Re-admission following his suspension would be contingent upon approval of rehabilitation and appropriate supervision deemed appropriate by the Bar (APP 1, pg.10).4

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